IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

ANTHONY BERTOLOTTI,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

Appellee.

vs.

CASE NO. 65,287

FILED

SEP 12 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Вy Chief Deputy dierk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32014-6183 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida. In the Brief the Appellee will be referred to as "the State" and the Appellant will be referred to as he appears before this Honorable Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Grand Jury in Orange County, Florida, for premeditated murder. (R 1993) He was tried by a jury on March 26 through 31, 1984, and found guilty as charged. (R 1138, 2300) A trial on the penalty was held on April 9, 1984, and nine jurors recommended that he be sentenced to death. (R 1486, 2322) On April 12, 1984, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death by electrocution. (R 1493, 2350-2356)

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on May 9, 1984, and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant on appeal to this Honorable Court. (R 2374, 2385)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Carol Miller Ward died between nine and ten o'clock on the morning of September 27, 1983, in her home in the Rosemont area of Orlando, Florida. (R 809) The primary causes of her death which took five to eight minutes were internal bleeding from stab wounds of the lungs and heart, and manual strangulation. (R803, 809, 817) She also had blunt head injuries but, although intact spermatazoa were discovered in a vaginal smear, there was no evidence of traumatic sexual contact. (R 800, 980, 1004, 818, 820) When her husband, William Ward, found her body that afternoon, her car was gone; groceries were scattered over the kitchen floor; her pants and shoes were in the kitchen corner; and her costume jewelry was in a small pile on the kitchen counter. (R 741, 744, 742, 743, 746, 777) She was lying on the floor of the den with a knife protruding from her chest. (R 744, 745, 786) A moist, discolored rag was hung across the back of a chair, a broken beer stein lay near the body, and there were apparent blood stains in the dressing room sink. (R 745, 757, 748, 752) Her purse appeared to have been rifled, but there was no sign of forcible entry into the home, and there had been nothing of value contained in the scattered papers of the closet safe. (R 747, 778, 754)

Sharon Griest and Appellant had lived together for ten months. (R 902,928) Appellant left for work on September 27th about 6:30 A. M., but had returned to their apartment by 10:45 A. M. (R 903, 904) He had about thirty-five dollars, and told Ms. Griest that he had been

- 3 -

paid for three hours' work that morning, and had borrowed money from a man who lived behind the office of the agency that employed him on a temporary basis. (R 906, 924, 905)

During the following days, Ms. Griest observed Appellant becoming very withdrawn and that he changed "100%." (R 906, 909, 928, 929, 942) After it was reported that Mrs. Ward's car had been found about two to four blocks from their apartment, Ms. Griest went to the AAA Temporary Jobs office, questioned a partner and a bus driver, and learned that Appellant had walked off his job site about a mile and a half from Mrs. Ward's neighborhood on September 27th, and that he had not been paid. (R 823, 832, 833, 835, 840, 838, 843, 910, 911)

From the employment agency, Sharon Griest went directly to a pay telephone and called "Crime Watch," a program which eventually paid her one thousand dollars for her information. (R 911, 938, 939) The next day, one week after Mrs. Ward's death, Appellant told Ms. Griest that he had "killed the lady in Rosemont". (R 914, 915) He told her he had gone to the house asking for directions to a bus stop and, when Mrs. Ward invited him inside to draw him a map, he decided to take her money but, when Mrs. Ward grabbed a knife, he took it from her and stabbed her several times. (R 915, 913, 917, 931) In telling Ms. Griest what happened, Appellant was crying a lot, extremely upset and remorseful. (R 916, 929, 937, 939)

That night, Appellant and Ms. Griest called Appellant's mother in Atlanta. (R 913, 919, 932, 988, 989) They discussed surrendering the next day and, on the morning of October 5th, Ms. Griest called Detective Randy Scoggins who had responded to her first call to "Crime Watch." Appellant was arrested as he walked along a sidewalk and offered no struggle or resistance. (R 1013, 1032)

- 3a -

At the Orlando Police Station in the Municipal Justice Building in Orlando, Appellant told Detective Scoggins what had happened in a taped statement throughout which Appellant sobbed. (R 1013, 1023, 1020, 1021, 1030, 1032, 1237, 1238, 1239; Exhibit 42) Fifteen days later, Detective Scoggins taped another statement made by Appellant at the Orange County Jail. (R 1025, 1027; Exhibit 44) Appellant's motions to suppress the taped statements were denied at a pretrial hearing and when the objections were renewed at the trial. (R 1250, 1251, 1254, 1019, 1020, 1030, 1022, 2220-2221)

While Appellant was being interviewed at the police station on the date of his arrest, other Orlando policemen recovered Sharon Griest's blood stained pants, which she said Appellant had worn on September 27th, from behind a heater on the porch of Appellant's and Ms. Griest's apartment. (R9 952, 954, 963, 930, 988, 989) The pants were admitted into evidence pursuant to Ms. Griest's consent for the police to search, and over Appellant's pretrial motions and objections at trial. (R 962, 1223, 2187-2188) The human blood on the pants could not be typed, but a forensic serologist said it was inconsistent with Appellant's blood. (R 988, 989)

Mary Finchum, a woman who lives next door to the Rosemont subdivision, testified that between 8:20 and 8:30 on the morning of September 27th, Appellant approached her mobile home with a newspaper rolled up under his arm and asked for directions. R(847, 848, 850, 853, 857) The owner of a sporting goods shop also said that he saw Appellant in the general area about 8:55 that morning. (R 868, 869, 870, 874)

Appellant was convicted of first-degree murder. (R 1138) At the sentencing phase of his trial, the trial court permitted detectives from

- 4 -

Dade County to testify to the details of Appellant's prior convictions for aggravated battery, burglary, and attempted sexual battery. (R 1288, 1289, 1327, 1312, 1307, 1308) William Ward was permitted to testify that his wife would not open the door to strangers, who upset her. (R 1355, 1357) The evidence also showed that Appellant was a good, reliable worker and employee, that he had been no problem to authorities while in custody, and that he did not resist arrest when apprehended for this incident. (R 1376, 1377, 1381, 1378, 1379, 1386, 1387) He came from a stable family and his parents testified that as a child he had been very obedient but sensitive and withdrawn. (R 1391-1396, 1397-1399, 1394, 1398, 1399) While incarcerated at Lawtey Correctional Institute, Appellant had been a volunteer counselor to youthful inmates, very helpful to the clinical psychologist, and had in general been a model prisoner with minimum restrictions. (R 1434, 1435, 1437, 1438) His motions for a mistrial made in response to improper argument by the prosecutor at the close of the sentencing phase were denied, and nine members of the jury recommended the death sentence. (R 1448, 1449, 1452, 1453, 1458)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE DEATH AS A POSSIBLE PENALTY.

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to strike death as a possible penalty, because the indictment by which he was charged failed to allege the aggravating factors which might subject Appellant to the death penalty. (R 2125-2126, 1178) Appellant recognizes that this Honorable Court has held, in <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 399 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1981), that where an indictment charges all the elements of murder in the first degree, the defendant has notice of the aggravating circumstances. <u>Sireci</u> dismissed analogies to the minimum three-year sentence pursuant to Section 775.087(2) of the Florida Statutes, which cannot be imposed unless an indictment alleges that the defendant carried a firearm, and to the burglary and robbery statutes where various aggravating circumstances elevate the degree of burglary or robbery. Appellant, however, urges this Honorable Court to review its position in <u>Sireci</u>, and consider the following argument.

<u>Sireci</u> distinguished substantive "degrees" of burlgary and robbery and "aggravating factors" that merely increase the penalties therefor, saying that it is not "aggravating factors" that determine a sentence for burglary but it is the "elements" which make a burglary a felony of a particular degree. The effect of classifying felonies by degrees, from third-degree to life, is simply to determine the number of years in prison to which a convicted person can be sentenced. §§ 775.08(1),

- 6 -

775.082(3), Fla. Stat. (1983). Death, however, is a unique punishment in its finality and in its total rejection of the possibility of rehabilitation. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974).

> The aggravating circumstances of Section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes, actually <u>define those crimes</u>—when read in conjunction with Florida Statutes 782.04(2) [and 794.01(1)]—to which the death penalty is applicable in the absence of mitigating circumstances. Id, 283 So. 2d at 9. (Emphasis supplied.)

The finding of aggravating factors which elevate a particular criminal act to one punishable by death is at least the equivalent of an additional "element" to increase a burglary or robbery to one of a higher degree felony.

In <u>Lindsey v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the District Court found that the information charging burglary with an assault was deficient where the elements of the assault were not stated. **B**810.02, Fla. Stat. (1977). The omission was not fundamental error but the defendants in that case had requested a statement of particulars and had moved to dismiss the information that <u>otherwise</u> charged a first-degree felony. This is precisely what Appellant did in this case: he asked for a declaration that, since the indictment did not allege the aggravating factors (contending they were the equivalent of elements of a "capital" offense), a crime punishable by death had not been charged.

Appellant's contention that these factors are on a pair with "elements" of a crime punishable by death is supported by this Honorable Court's decision in <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1982), in which a challenge to the capital felony sentencing law's constitutionality was

- 7 -

rebuffed by a finding that the aggravating factors were not merely

procedural:

In contending that the capital felony sentencing law regulates practice and procedure, appellant relies upon Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 97 S.Ct 2290, 53 L.Ed.2d 344 (1977), and Lee v. State, 294 So. 2d 305 (Fla. 1974). The critical issue in those cases was the legality of applying Florida's new death penalty law to persons who had committed a murder before the law had taken effect. In holding that the law could be applied to such persons, the United States Supreme Court and this Court referred to the changes in the law as procedural. Those references concerned the manner in which defendants who had committed murder before the new law took effect should be sentenced. They were not meant to be used as shibboleths for deciding whether the new law violates article V, section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution by regulating the practice and procedure in the Florida Courts. By delineating the circumstances in which the death penalty may be imposed, the legislature has not invaded this Court's prerogative of adopting rules of practice and procedure. We find that the provisions of section 921.141 are matters of substantive law insofar as they define those capital felonies which the legislature finds deserving of the death penalty. The appellant's contention that the statute improperly attempts to regulate practice and procedure is without merit. [Citations Id., 410 So. 2d at 149. omitted.] (Emphasis supplied.)

The State contended in <u>Lindsey</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the defendants were not prejudiced at their trial by the omission of assault's elements from the information. Appellee may argue that Appellant was not prejudiced at his trial by the indictment's omission of elements that made the crime with which he was charged punishable by death. The District Court in <u>Lindsey</u>, however, recognized that the defendants were "certainly prejudiced" when they were sentenced to 99 years instead of a maximum of fifteen years in prison. Likewise, Appellant was severely prejudiced when the State proceeded, upon his conviction for a crime punishable by a minimum of twenty-five years to life in prison, to obtain a sentence of death. Since the indictment did not allege that the crime charged was aggravated by circumstances which subjected Appellant to the death penalty, the maximum sentence which should have been imposed was life in prison.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE WHERE THE FACTS OF HIS CASE HAD BEEN WIDELY PUBLICIZED.

Thirty-three members of the venire of prospective jurors for Appellant's trial had heard about the facts of the event and his arrest at the time they occurred. (R 36, 47, 47, 51, 62, 72, 83, 90, 98, 113, 124, 137, 153, 189, 193, 215, 216, 219, 240, 244, 284, 324, 344, 359, 374, 395, 408, 445, 452, 459, 481, 523, 549, 553, 563, 578, 583, 595, 612, 613) Seven of those who were asked recalled reports that Appellant had confessed. (R 47, 51, 52, 85, 86, 228, 234, 236, 259, 264, 363, 436, 496) Appellant's motion to move the trial to another venue, grounded primarily on the fact that Appellant's confession had been reported, was denied. (R 1268, 1155, 457, 469, 632, 633, 2265)

This Honorable Court, in <u>Oliver v. State</u>, 250 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1981), announced that, as a general rule, when a "confession" is featured in news media coverage of a prosecution, a change of venue motion should be granted whenever requested. At the hearing on Appellant's motion, the prosecutor argued that the <u>Oliver</u> rule was not appropriate, stating that in <u>Oliver</u> the community's sole newspaper had reprinted a transcript of Oliver's confession, whereas in <u>Hoy v. State</u>, 353 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1977), the newspaper's report was based on the statement of a detective summarizing the defendant's confession. (R 1151) In <u>Hoy</u>, however, the area in which the trial took place was not dependent on a sole daily newspaper, and the defendant's retraction of the confession was published with equal prominence. The prosecutor in this case acknowledged that the Orlando Sentinel was for

- 10 -

all practical purposes the area's only newspaper. (R 1151) Moreover, Appellant's confession, though taken from "arrest papers," was the feature of a sizeable front-page news story of his arrest. (R 2225-2226; Appendix.) It was not transcribed verbatim (neither was the confession in <u>Oliver</u>), but was prominently featured in the news story. <u>See Oats v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 90, at 93 (Fla. 1984).

Since the events of this case received a great deal of newspaper and television publicity, and since Appellant's confession was essentially reprinted for the public at large, his motion for a change of venue should have been granted. Art. I §§ 9 and 16, Fla. Const.; Amends. V, VI, and XIV, U.S. Const.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS CONFESSION AT THE ORLANDO POLICE DEPART-MENT.

Appellant was arrested on October 5, 1983, on a city street in Orlando. (R 1385-1386) Officer Rick deTreville pointed a .38 Smith and Wesson firearm with a two-inch barrel at him and told him very clearly he would shoot him if he tried to run away. (R 1387) Detective Randy Scoggins approached him as he lay face down and handcuffed and, after other officers stood him up, told Appellant he would be talking to him at the police station soon. (R 1849-1850, 1236, 1013) In the interview room at the Municipal Justice Building where he was uncuffed, Appellant appeared to be "very burdered." (R 1852-1853) He was crying, telling Detective Scoggins he wanted to die, and sobbing. (R 1237-1239) He sobbed throughout the subsequent interrogation. (Exhibit 42)

Although Appellant was verbally advised of his constitutional right against self-incrimination and signed a waiver of rights form, the evidence showed that this waiver was, in fact, not voluntary. (R 1231, 1237, 1014; Exhibit 41) Although Appellant was not drugged as was the accused in <u>DeConingh v. State</u>, 433 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1983), he was extremely distraught as was DeConingh. Even though the procedural requirements of <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966), were better met in this case than in <u>DeConingh</u>, this Honorable Court recognized in <u>DeConingh</u> that:

- 12 -

Any questioning by police officers which in fact produces a confession which is not the product of a free intellect renders that confession inadmissible." Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 308, 83 S.Ct. 745, 754, 9 L.Ed.2d 770 (1963) (emphasis in original).

Defense counsel correctly argued at the hearing on the motion to suppress Appellant's October 5th confession that the trial court should consider the totality of the circumstances, and the fact that Appellant was too emotionally upset to clearly understand what was going on or to intelligently waive his rights. <u>Cason v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). The trial court, however, denied the motion to suppress, relying on the fact that there had been no evidence of police coercion or improper inducement, and found the statement to have been freely and voluntarily made because:

> THE COURT: You have alleged that he was emotionally upset to the point that the Miranda Warnings could not be effectively given, but I see no evidence that even emotional upset, other than the sobbing made reference to, which is insufficient for me to determine if these statements were not voluntarily made. (R 1250-1251) (emphasis supplied.)

In other words, Appellant's counsel had failed to prove that the statements were involuntary, and so the motion was denied. The law is, however, that the burden of proving that a confession has been freely and voluntarily given rests upon the State. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 348 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). Like DeConingh's, Appellant's statements were "blurted out," but the absence of coercive interrogation is not dispositive of the issue of whether the accused knew what he or she was

doing. <u>DeConingh</u>, <u>supra</u>, 433 So. 2d 501 at 504. Since the burden was placed on Appellant to prove that his statements were <u>not</u> voluntary, it was error for the trial court to presume that they were voluntary and admit them on that basis. Art. I §§9 and 16, Fla. Const.; Amends. V and XIV, U. S. Const.

1

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE FROM HIS DWELLING WHICH WAS SEIZED PURSUANT TO THE CONSENT OF A CO-TENANT WHO WAS ACTING AS A POLICE AGENT.

After Appellant had been arrested for murder, Orlando policemen searched the apartment where he lived. (R 952) Sharon Griest, with whom he had lived for ten months, signed a police department consentto-search form; Appellant did not authorize a search. (R 919, 920, 922, 952, 1211, 1212, 1213, 1215, 1217, 1218, 1220; Exhibit 31) Behind the heater on the screened porch of the apartment the police found a pair of Sharon Griest's dungarees, which she said Appellant had worn on September 27th, and in a laundry hamper in the bedroom they found a black T-shirt. (R 918, 919, 930, 954, 963) Two blood stains of Carol Ward's type were found on the shirt; human blood on the pants was untyped but inconsistent with Appellant's. (R984, 986, 989) Sharon Griest had earlier turned over a pair of Appellant's shoes to Detective Scoggins. (R 919) Blood was found on the lace area of the right shoe. (R 992)

Appellant moved to suppress the pants and shirt that were seized pursuant to the search made while he was in custody. (R 2187-2188) Since Appellant was in police custody on the day the search was made, there were no exigent circumstances preventing the obtaining of a warrant. (R 1221) Appellant had not given his consent to a search. (R 1220) The trial court denied the motion, however, stating:

THE COURT: It appears that the items of clothing that were removed were removed from a common area,

- 15 -

not an area exclusively under the control of the defendant and from within a common residence, and also appears that Mrs. Griest did have standing to permit the consensual search. Accordingly, the motion to suppress evidence is denied. (R 1223)

Normally, the test for a valid third-party consent to a warrantless search is whether the third party has joint control of the premises. <u>United States v. Matlock</u>, 415 U.S. 164, 98 S.Ct. 218, 54 L.Ed.2d 152 (1974); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 1982). The apartment searched in this case had been leased in both Mrs. Griest's and Appellant's names, and they both paid the rent. (R 1212, 1217-1220)

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