IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY BERTOLOTT	I,)	
	Appellant,		
vs.	:	CASE NO.	65,287
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:		
	Appellee.)	SID J. WAITE
	;))	NOV 1 1984
	•		By Chief Deput Glerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

On appeal, Appellant challenges the denial of his motion. It is important to note what he does not raise. Appellant does not contend that Mrs. Griest lacked authority to consent to a search of the apartment or that the areas searched were within his personal control; similarly, he does not argue that her consent was involuntary or motivated by feelings of antipathy toward him. Compare State v. Blakely, 230 So. 2d 698 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970); Lawton v. State, 320 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); Silva v. State, 344 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 1977). Considering Mrs. Griest's testimony in this case, such challenges would have been unavailing; she had authority to consent to the search and it did not invade any private "domain" of Appellant. Compare Dees v. State, 291 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1974); Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 1982); Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984). The instant ruling, coming to this Court with the presumption of correctness, should be approved. Compare Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980); Johnson v. State, 438 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant does argue, however, that, the items of clothing

should have been suppressed because, at the time of her consent, Mrs. Griest was acting as an agent of the State; for support, Appellant cites to <u>United State v. Henry</u>, 447 U.S. 264 (1980) and <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 441 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). These cases do not support Appellant's argument and neither does the record on appeal. This point is without merit.

At the suppression hearing, Mrs. Griest testified that she had "talked to" the police on two occasions prior to the search (R 1220); she also stated that she had advised them in advance of the location of the various items of clothing (R 1217). Lieutenant Smith testified that Mrs. Griest had come to the police station 'many times' prior to the time that she executed the consent to search for them (R 1213). He also stated that he had never spoken to her on any of these occasions and had no idea 'what capacity she might have been working for or with" the police (R 1213). This is the sum total of the evidence presented at the suppression hearing; there is nothing else. In his brief, however, Appellant cites to various portions of Mrs. Griest's trial testimony, as well as to her deposition which was never admitted into evidence (Brief of Appellant at 15, 16, 17). In Appellee's respectful opinion, this is completely improper. These "facts" were not before Judge Stroker when he was called upon to rule on the motion to suppress. Although Appellant did summarily "renew" his motion at the time the evidence was to be admitted, he never drew the judge's attention to any 'new'evidence elicited at trial. Appellee suggests that Appellant is impermissibly modifying the factual basis for his motion on appeal and that this Court should, accordingly, disregard this argument. Cf. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

Additionally, Appellant's premise is not well-taken. Mrs.

Griest bears no similarity to the police informant in Henry who "deliber-

ately elicited" statements from the defendant, in violation of latter's Sixth Amendment to counsel; here, Mrs. Griest consented to the search of her own apartment. Further, the situation <u>sub judice</u> has nothing in common with that before the court in <u>State v. Glosson</u>; in that case, the First District observed that the circumstances of the case before it seemed to resemble an instance in which the State was manufacturing crime, as opposed to seeking evidence of it. If Mrs. Griest's position does have any parallel, it would seem to be with the wife of the defendant in <u>Coolidge v. New Hamp</u>shire, 403 U.S. 443 (1971).

In Coolidge, the defendant's wife turned over to the police, consensually, certain items of her husband's clothing, as well as some firearms; the police did not have a search warrant or the consent of her husband. Coolidge claimed that his wife had been acting as an agent or instrument of the State and that, accordingly, she could not have waived his right to protest an unreasonable search. The United States Supreme Court found that no search or seizure, unreasonable or otherwise, had taken place; the court noted that Mrs. Coolidge had been motivated by a desire to clear her husband of suspicion. Appellant sub judice never asked Mrs. Griest why she had turned over the clothing, in effect, to the police. Instead, he seeks now to portray her as some sort of money-grubbing harpy by selective use of her trial testimony, in which she acknowledged receiving \$1,000, left untouched, from Crime Watch, after Appellant's arrest (R 938-9). This post-trial character assasination is unwarranted; it should be noted that Mrs. Griest testified on Appellant's behalf at the penalty phase (R 1379-1383). Appellant totally failed to demonstrate that Mrs. Griest was an agent of the State or that she acted from any impure motives at the time she consented to the search of her own apartment. Denial of Appellant's motion to suppress was proper and his conviction should be affirmed.

POINT V

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WAS NOT ERROR

During her direct examination, Sharon Griest was asked what Appellant's response was to her request that he turn himself in; she answered as follows:

I just about had him talked into going with me, and he asked me if he could have one more day of freedom because he knew he was going to go to prison again, and I said -- (R 924-5).

Appellant's counsel immediately moved for a mistrial, arguing that the jury was now aware that Appellant 'had previously been in prison possibly prior to this criminal episode' and that a mistrial was called for whenever mention of a prior felony occurred (R 925). The State responded that the answer had been an inadvertent response, despite prior cautioning; the prosecutor, while contending that the evidence was not inadmissible, also stated that he would not oppose the giving of a cautionary instruction (R 925-6). Appellant's counsel, however, argued against the giving of any such instruction, and Judge Stroker denied the motion for mistrial and acceded to the defense wishes that no instruction be given (R 926).

Appellant contends that this ruling constitutes reversible error, in that evidence of the commission of an independent and collateral crime was placed before the jury, to Appellant's prejudice, by the testimony of Mrs. Griest. In support of this contention, Appellant relies upon two district court decisions, Jones v. State, 194 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967) and Rodriguez v. State, 433 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In Jones, the district court, citing to a number of out of state decisions, reversed the conviction at issue because the prosecutor had mentioned in opening statement the defendant's mug shot; in Rodriguez, the court reversed when a state

witness testified that Appellant had been involved in another murder. Obviously, the inadvertent statement <u>sub judice</u> is not on a par with that in <u>Rodriguez</u>. Additionally, if <u>Jones</u> is read to stand for the proposition that any mention of a defendant's mug shot is <u>per se</u> reversible error, it must be noted that such case has very, very limited applicability. The Third District itself has expressed discomfiture with the <u>Jones</u> holding, <u>see</u> <u>Williams v. State</u>, 233 So.2d 428 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970), and other district courts have followed suit and refused to apply it. <u>See Anderson v. State</u>, 230 So.2d 704 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970); <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1296 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). In <u>Loftin v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 70 (Fla. 1973), this Court discussed Jones with a notable lack of warmth.

Appellee prefers to rely upon decisions of this Court in resolving this point. Thus, it is worth noting that in Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982), this Court approved the denial of a motion for mistrial when one of Appellant's co-defendants, referring to himself, another co-defendant and Appellant said, "...my first time in prison, all three of us was together." This Court found that no mistrial was required and observed that the defense had not sought a curative instruction, a relevant observation to the case sub judice. Further, to the extent that Jones has applicability, it is worth noting that in Sims v. State, 444 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1983), this Court found a vague reference to the defendant's mug shot insufficient grounds for mistrial. Ferguson and Sims dictate that denial of the instant motion for mistrial was correct. Compare also Warren v. State, 443 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), witness's inadvertent statement that he had seen defendant when the latter was "down in prison" insufficient grounds for mistrial, where no curative instruction requested; Williams v. State, 354 So.2d 112 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

This Court has frequently held that motions for declaration of a mistrial are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and that such motions should be granted only in cases of absolute necessity. See Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978); Wilson v. State, 436 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1983). There is absolutely no indication that Appellant's trial was irretrievably tainted by Mrs. Griest's slip of the tongue and there was absolutely no basis to discharge the jury. Given the strength of evidence against Appellant, it is inconceivable that the statement at issue could have played any part in the choice of a verdict. When the jury came to deliberate, they had already heard two confessions by Appellant, as well as his admissions to Mrs. Griest. They had viewed his blood-stained clothing, which had been recovered from his apartment, and had heard the testimony of witnesses who placed Appellant in the vicinity of the crime prior to its occurrence. Additionally, they had heard the closing argument of Appellant's attorney, in which such attorney represented to them not that his client was totally innocent, but that he was guilty of second degree murder at most (R 1086,1106); it should be noted that this was not a change of strategy, in that in his opening statement, defense counsel had intimated that the State would prove a lesser degree of homicide (R 736-7). The jury in this case made their decision on the basis of the evidence, and denial of Appellant's mistrial motion was not error.

Additionally, it should be noted that even if the statement by Mrs. Griest had the effect of introducing evidence of collateral crime, as Appellant claims that it does, this Court has, in capital cases, regarded such as harmless error, if circumstances warranted it. Compare Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980); Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1982); Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983). Given the strength of the

evidence discussed above, such circumstances can be said to be found <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>. The reference to any prior incarceration of Appellant is similar to the situation before this Court in <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983); therein, the prosecutor had asked an overly-broad question of an overly-talkative witness who, in describing her dealings with the defendant on the day in question, informed the jury that he had shaken "his private" at her. This Court noted that the comment was "part of a somewhat rambling answer" and, at most, harmless error. Such could be the holding in this case, and one must note that Appellant himself discouraged the giving of any curative instruction. <u>Compare Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974). Appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error as to this point and his conviction should be affirmed.

POINT VI

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL, MADE AT THE SEN-TENCING HEARING, WAS NOT ERROR

During the State's argument in the penalty phase, Appellant interposed three motions for mistrial, all of which were denied. Appellant's first motion came when the prosecutor stated, upon discussing the applicability of § 921.141(5)(d) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1981), that aggravating factor involving the fact that the murder had been committed during a felony, such as robbery or rape:

He admittedly robbed her, robbed her at knifepoint of her money, had her back in the closet looking through the safe to see if he could get some more money. He only got thirty dollars. He killed this woman for thirty dollars.

And he says he didn't rape her. He didn't have any sexual intercourse with her. But the evidence would show otherwise. There is his blood type and intact sperm present, which you all heard during the course of the evidentiary phase would not be present if the sexual contact was as long ago as it had been with her husband.

And here she is found nude from the waist down, her underwear and pants and shoes on the floor of the kitchen. And what does that tell you? The man raped her. And yet he comes in here with the audacity to tell us, "I didn't have sex with her." (R 1448)

After an intervening paragraph of argument, Appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial, claiming that the assistant state attorney had impermissibly commented upon his failure to testify and his right to remain silent (R 1449); the motion was denied (R 1449).

Later, when the prosecutor was arguing to the jury the applicability of § 921.141(5)(h) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1981), that aggravating factor relating to the fact that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, the following comment was made:

Then we come down to number (h) here, whether or not the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. And you have heard the facts, and I'm not going to wave those pictures in front of you again. But you know that Anthony Bertolotti stabbed this poor woman fourteen times in the chest alone, and he did it with such force that he broke the first knife off.

And then when he wasn't satisfied that she was dead because she was still moving and she was still making noises, he went to the kitchen. He went to the kitchen and got another knife and stabbed her and finished her off, all of this, we must not forget, after having beat her about the head with that beer stein, strangled her about the neck, choking her.

And if that's not heinous, atrocious and cruel, can anyone imagine any more pain and any more anguish than this woman must have gone through in the last few minutes of her life, fighting for her life, no lawyers to beg for her life. (R 1451-2).

After the prosecutor had moved on to discuss the application of the next aggravating factor, Appellant's counsel moved again for a mistrial, contending that the prosecutor had been commenting upon Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel (R 1453); this motion was denied (R 1453).

Lastly, after the prosecutor had reviewed all of the potential mitigating factors and the evidence thereon, he proceeded to his summation. The argument concluded as follows:

Well, in this situation Carol Ward was robbed of her life. She was robbed of her money. But Carol Ward is not the only person that demands justice in this case. The state demands justice. The state demands justice for Anthony Bertolotti.

If this business of the death penalty and the law is to be respected, if it's to have any meaning whatsoever, if Carol Ward is to receive justice and if Anthony Bertolotti is to receive justice, the only appropriate sentence that you can return here is to come right back in this courtroom, to look Anthony Bertolotti right in eye and say, "Anthony Bertolotti, for what you

did and for what you are, death is the appropriate penalty under the law."

Anything less in this case would only confirm what we see running around on the bumper stickers of these cars, and that is that only the victim gets the death penalty. (R 1457-8).

Appellant's counsel again moved for a mistrial, claiming that the argument was improper and constituted an appeal to the sympathy of the jury (R 1458-1459); the motion was denied (R 1459).

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